
York Town Board Meeting 
November 14th, 2023 

7:00 p.m. 
 
Present: Supervisor Gerald L. Deming, Council Members: Frank Rose Jr., Amos 
Smith, Norman Gates and Jason Swede. 
 
Absent: None 
 
Others: James Campbell (Town Attorney), Henry Fuller, Kirk Richenberg, David 
DiPasquale and Gary Nageldinger (Liv. Co Board of Elections Commissioners), 
Joe Eyer, Dustin Geiger, Davies Nagel, Carl Peter (Zoning/Code Officer) and 
George Worden Jr. (Highway Supt) 
 
Supervisor Deming opened the Town Board meeting at 7:00 p.m. and invited 
Councilman Rose to lead in the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
MINUTES: 
RESOLUTION offered by Mr. Swede and seconded by Mr. Smith to approve the 
minutes of the October 10th Public Hearing and regular meeting and October 26th 
Budget Hearing and regular meeting.  Voted on and approved, Yes-5, No-0. 
 
BILLS: 
RESOLUTION offered by Mr. Smith and seconded by Mr. Swede to approve all 
claims brought before the Board.  Voted on and approved, Yes-5, No-0. 
 

• General Fund Claim                 #276-304              $   35,872.32 

• Consolidated Water/Sewer     #225-249              $238,726.59 

• Highway Fund                           #153-175                $220,936.87 
  

 
BOARD OF ELECTIONS: 
1)David DiPasquale & Gary Nageldinger: 
Mr. DiPasquale introduced himself to the Board and stated that he is the 
Democratic Commissioner and Gary Nageldinger is the Republican 
Commissioner for Livingston County Board of Elections. 
 
Mr. DiPasquale indicated that they received a telephone call from a Town of York 
resident stating a concern regarding the current cameras in the Town Hall polling 
location on Election Day. The caller also indicated that a DEC officer may have 
been monitoring the cameras while the polls were open. We certainly understand 
the need to have cameras for safety purposes, and over the years have noted that 
this hall is a perfect spot for elections due to its spaciousness. 
 
Mr. Nageldinger added that many other polling sites have cameras in their 
locations as well, which is not uncommon. 
 



Councilman Rose asked if it is public information to share whom the caller was 
who complained which Mr. DiPasquale replied it is, and the caller was Mr. Fuller.  
 
Mr. Nageldinger stated that the Board of Elections take all calls or claims 
seriously, especially when dealing with privacy of voters.  Mr. DiPasquale added 
that the Board of Elections has investigated and viewed the existing Town of York 
cameras and verified that in no way are the existing cameras a hinderance to the 
rights of privacy of voters in the Town Hall. 
 
Mr. Fuller commented that his call was not a complaint, it was an observation.  
 
Attorney Campbell commented that we have a clear statement from the Board of 
Elections for the minutes that they have investigated the complaint regarding the 
cameras in the voting area and have determined it to be a non-issue based on 
placement of the existing cameras. 
 
Mr. Fuller asked if we could turn the cameras off on Election Day. 
 
Councilman Smith stated that the Board of Elections verified that the placement 
of the cameras was of no issue to voter’s privacy and the cameras are here for a 
reason, security purposes. 
 
Mr. Nageldinger stated that the Board of Elections main concern was if the 
cameras were able to see voters’ ballots which after review, was verified that they 
could not. 
 
Supervisor Deming thanked Mr. DiPasquale and Mr. Nageldinger for attending 
tonight’s meeting. 
 
 
PRIVILEGES OF THE FLOOR: 
1)Kirk Richenberg: 
Mr. Richenberg asked to speak this evening regarding budget questions and solar 
money: 
 
 Q-Is there a White Creek Solar update? 
 
Supervisor Deming responded that negotiations are winding down and we are 
almost at a point to discuss at a regular meeting. 
 
 Q-Is the representation from the Town still the Supervisor and 
Councilman Swede? 
 
Supervisor Deming replied yes, he and Councilman Swede are the Town 
representatives. 
 
 Q-Who else is part of the negotiations? 



 
Supervisor Deming answered that he along with Councilman Swede, Attorney 
Campbell, Bill Bacon, Leicester Supervisor Fanaro and Attorney Dwight Kanyuck 
are conducting negotiations. 
 
 Q-The negotiations are for the full solar package, has the school been 
involved? 
 
Supervisor Deming replied that Mr. Bacon has spoken with the school but they 
have not had representation at the meetings. 
 
 Q-Could there be a concern by the school at a later date that they were not 
part of the original discussions? 
 
Attorney Campbell answered that these negotiations follow the same division of 
funds as the previous solar projects. 
 
 Q-Are there any guidelines, plans or procedures on how to divide or 
allocate the solar funds? 
 
Supervisor Deming commented as previously stated in other meetings, we as a 
Board will determine how to disburse funds. We ask that organizations come to 
the Board to outline their need and determination would be made thereafter.  
Supervisor Deming added that he will be asking the Board to fund the Highway 
Salt Barn with the existing funds. 
 
 Q-The past 2 years the Town Board has met in a public setting to draft the 
Tentative budget, why are you changing that format? 
 
Supervisor Deming answered that the Board has met individually with him and 
Justin Bennett regarding the Preliminary budget not Tentative.  The initial 
numbers were prepared at Baldwins with himself, Mr. Bennett, Mr. Worden and 
Councilman Rose and then met individually with the remaining board members 
for feedback and changes. 
 
 Q-Why are you changing the routine? 
 
Supervisor Deming answered that the individual sessions seem to have more 
input from the members. 
 
Richenberg comment: It looks like you don’t want the public involvement and 
feel something is missing when it is not in the public setting. 
 
Supervisor Deming responded that the individual sessions have worked well and 
feel we received more questions and feedback through these sessions.  Mr. 
Deming pointed out that the public still has the opportunity to review the budget 



and ask questions at the yearly budget hearing, but stated we will re-evaluate 
each year how the Board wants to proceed. 
 
 Q-There were four (4) increases in the budget this year: 
                                   Veterans Services 
                                   Y/L Kiwanis 
                                   Y/L Towners 
                                   Town of York Historical Society  
 
 
Supervisor Deming stated after review of the budget figures, the Board agreed to 
increase the Veteran’s Services from $1000 to $1,500, York/Leicester Towners 
from $1,400 to $1,500 and put $2,000 back into the budget for the Town of York 
Historical Society. (Historian has a separate line item). We have a new addition 
this upcoming year for the Y/L Kiwanis after conversations with representatives 
from that organization.  Supervisor Deming stated that he and Councilman Rose 
met with Kiwanis, where they explained the services they provide to the 
community which we will now be part of supporting. 
 
 Q-Did you ask for financial sheets from these organizations? 
 
Supervisor Deming replied he did not. 
 
 
 
Mr. Richenberg read aloud the following: 



  
 



2)Henry Fuller: 
Mr. Fuller asked to speak this evening as a rebuttal to the Supervisor’s comments 
made at the October 10th meeting: 
 
Mr. Fuller asked why some or all Town Board members did not asked questions 
when it was brought up about failing to comply with the Open Meetings Law after 
getting legal opinion that you didn’t meet the State law?  This lawsuit cost the 
town $16,000 because you didn’t get proper legal advice.  Who represents the 
taxpayers in the town? 
 
Councilman Smith replied that the Town Board represents the taxpayers in this 
township and added, in regard to the comment made that the Board did not ask 
questions, the Board certainly had questions and comments and further added 
we are well aware of how much this lawsuit cost the Town.  Councilman Smith 
stated that perhaps Mr. Fuller should read the minutes to see that questions are 
asked. 
 
Mr. Fuller stated, if he was getting legal advice, he would want to make sure they 
knew the law and added that the people don’t trust the Board. 
 
Supervisor Deming and Councilman Smith commented that the main reason the 
Board held the Executive Session was to keep solar negotiations from being 
leaked, it was not to keep the public from the process. 
 
Councilman Smith commented if the taxpayers did not trust the Board, they 
wouldn’t have voted for us once again. 
 
 
 
HIGHWAY REPORT: 
Mr. Worden reported the following for the Highway Department: 

• The walls of the Salt Shed are up, floors are leveled and now ready for 
blacktop 

• To date, we do not have any word on the delivery date of our new truck 

• We are working on re-claiming the gravel pit 

• We are servicing trucks and sanders in anticipation of the winter season 

• Retsof Sewer Dist. Collection improvements bid opening will be November 
28th  

• The Highway garage roof bid opening will take place on December 1st  

• Piffard update-We hope to get water in the pipes tomorrow 
 
 
WATER/SEWER REPORT: 
Mr. Worden reported the following for the Water & Sewer Department: 

• As stated above, we will be working in Piffard tomorrow to try and get 
water in the pipes. 



• PRV valve is now rectified on Route 20 (Telephone Road) 

• UV Disinfection projects-nothing has happened thus far 
 
 
 
NEW BUSINESS: 
1)Trail Town Committee Report: 
Mr. Nagel stated to the Board that the Genesee Valley Greenway has informed the 
Trail Town Committee that they have applied for another grant for trail 
improvements (stone dust) going from the Scottsville area to Mt. Morris. 
 
Mr. Nagel also reviewed with the Board the Committee’s report for November as 
well as an article in the New York Times: 
 

 
 



 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 



2)Advertisement: 
RESOLUTION offered by Mr. Smith and seconded by Mr. Gates to authorize the 
Clerk permission to advertise for the following vacancies: 
 
           Planning Board (1) 5-year term; effective January 1, 2024 
           Zoning Board of Appeals (1) 5-year term; effective January 1, 2024 
Voted on and approved, Yes-5, No-0. 
 
 
3)Pay App #1: 

(a)STC Construction, Inc: 
RESOLUTION offered by Mr. Rose and Seconded by Mr. Smith to approve Pay 
App #1 to STC Construction, Inc. in the amount of $22,420.00.  Voted on and 
approved, Yes-5, No-0. 
 
 
 (b)MW Controls Service, Inc: 
RESOLUTION offered by Mr. Smith and seconded by Mr. Gates to approve Pay 
App #1 to MW Controls Service, Inc. in the amount of $5,560.01.  Voted on and 
approved, Yes-5, No-0. 
 
** Both Pay Apps are for the Wastewater Treatment Facility UV Disinfection 
Projects. 
 
 
 
4)Line-Item Transfers: 
RESOLUTION offered by Mr. Smith and seconded by Mr. Rose to approve the 
following modifications: 
                        
 
 



 
 



 



 
5)Backus Correspondence: 
Supervisor Deming read aloud correspondence received by the Board from 
Piffard resident Cheryl Backus regarding a suggestion for a dog park area at the 
playground site. 
 
 
 

 



The Board inquired as to the size of such parks in other townships.  Mr. Worden 
commented that a 50’ x 50’ area is a routine size, and usually a dispenser is 
placed for disposal purposes. 
 
Mr. Richenberg inquired if the Town had any signage stating that dogs are not 
allowed, which Supervisor Deming responded there are no signs posted for such. 
 
The Board stated until review of other parks has taken place, we will table this 
discussion at this time. 
  
 
 
 
 
OTHER BUSINESS: 
1)Greigsville Sidewalk update: 
Supervisor Deming informed the Board that he attended a meeting today at the 
County to discuss applying for a Tap Grant for Greigsville Sidewalks once again.  
Livingston County Senior Planner, Megan Crowe will be reaching out to Clerk 
Harris within the next day or so to coordinate necessary information for the grant 
application. 
 
 
Supervisor Deming addressed Mr. Fuller at this time regarding the comments he 
made earlier in the meeting pertaining to the Executive Session meeting held in 
February which prompted his lawsuit.  Mr. Deming stated that the meeting was 
called to keep the Board informed and try to secure information from leaking to 
the solar company before negotiations were finalized.  Due to the way things 
played out thereafter, the Board can only go forward with two members 
representing the Town which is unfortunate but is how it must be until its’s ready 
to be discussed as a Board along with the public.  It was my mistake to have that 
meeting but in order to keep negotiations secure, he felt it was necessary.  We 
now need to move forward and stop conversations about the lawsuit, the matter 
has been resolved. 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
RESOLUTION offered by Mr. Smith and seconded by Mr. Swede to adjourn the 
Town Board meeting until December 5th.  Voted on and approved, Yes- 5, No- 0. 
 
Town Board meeting closed at 7:44 p.m. 
 
 
 
                                                                                    Respectfully Submitted, 

                                                                                    Christine M. Harris  

                                                                                    Christine M. Harris, Clerk 

 


